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Introduction 

In Cash America Net v. Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, 607 Pa. 432, 8 A.3d 282, 

295 (2010), the Pennsylvania Supreme Court ruled that on-line lenders are conducting business 

in Pennsylvania and had to obey Pennsylvania's usury laws. The present case is about a 

predatory lender that runs an internet usury scam employing an alphabet soup of corporate 

entities, including Sovereign Lending Solutions, LLC ("Sovereign"), Auto Loans, LLC., Car 

Loans, LLC, and Management Solutions, LLC, to name a few. Defendants make loans over the 

internet at interest rates ranging from 180 to 260% A.P.R. secured by borrowers' cars. 

Defendant's loans last for a year and consist of 11 interest payments followed by a balloon 

payment of principal and interest. If a borrower is unable to afford the balloon payment, the 

defendants repossess his car, even though a borrower who made all of the "interest" payments 

has likely repaid the loan twice over. 

In this case, the defendants lent Ms. Bynon $4,950 at 182.2% A.P.R. Over the 

next year and a half, Ms. Bynon proceeded to pay defendants over $15,000, but the defendants 

repossessed her car three times because the money was never enough to satisfy the usurious 

interest. As a result of these events, Ms. Bynon filed the instant lawsuit asserting claims under 

the Fair Debt Collections Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692f, the Fair Credit Extension Uniformity 

Act, 73 P.S. §2270.4, Pennsylvania Act 6, 41 P.S. §§ 201 et seq., the Racketeer Influenced and 

Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), and tortuous interference with contractual 

relations. 

The only defendant to respond to the lawsuit is Craig Mansfield, a manager of 

Sovereign Lending Solutions, LLC, whose name appears on Ms. Bynon's loan agreement. 
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Although the Second Amended Complaint ("Complaint") seeks only a personal judgment against 

Mr. Mansfield, he claims to be protected by sovereign immunity because he is a member of an 

Indian tribe. 

It is well established, however, that tribal immunity applies only to tribes and not 

individuals. Puyallup Tribe, Inc v. Department of Game of State of Washington, 433 U.S. 165, 

170-173 (1977); Maxwell v. Cnty. of San Diego, 708 F.3d 1075, 1088-1091 (9th Cir., 2013); 

Native American Distrib. v. Seneca-Cayuga Tobacco, 546 F.3d 1288, 1296-97 (10th Cir., 2008). 

The test to determine if Mr. Mansfield is being sued in his personal capacity turns on whether 

relief is sought out of the tribe's treasury or from Mr. Mansfield personally. Maxwell, 708 F.3d at 

1088-1091, Native American Distrib., 546 F.3d at 1296-97. Ms. Bynon's complaint states that 

Mr. Mansfield is named in his personal capacity, Complaint ¶ 3, and requests entry of judgment 

personally against Mr. Mansfield, jointly and severally, with a number of other defendants. A 

judgment entered on the complaint will operate only against Mr. Mansfield, and not Sovereign or 

its incorporator, the Lac Vieu Desert Band of Lake Superior Chippewa Indians (the "Tribe"). 

Mr. Mansfield was not acting within the scope of his authority when he authorized 

loans to Pennsylvania borrowers. The Tribal law under which Sovereign operated only 

authorized lending within the Tribe's jurisdiction on its reservation in Michigan, and not in 

Pennsylvania. Exhibit P- li at 30. 

For these reasons, explained more fully below, Mr. Mansfield's motion to be 

dismissed lacks merit and should be denied. 
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Background 

Craig Mansfield admits that he is employed as a co-manager by Sovereign, with 

responsibility to oversee the business' day-to-day activities. Complaint Exhibit P-i, Mansfield 

Affidavit at ¶ 7 ("Mansfield Affidavit"). Sovereign is a business entity incorporated under tribal 

law by the Lac Vieux Desert Band of Lake Superior Chippewa Indians ("Tribe"). Mansfield 

Affidavit ¶ 4. The Tribe occupies a small reservation on Michigan's upper peninsula. The Tribe 

issued Sovereign a license to engage in consumer lending. Exhibit P-12 (attached);' Mansfield 

Affidavit ¶ 5. The license authorizes Sovereign to make loans in accordance with the Tribe's 

lending code within the tribe's jurisdiction. Exhibit P-11 at 30, § 5.1(c) ("A License is a 

revocable privilege to do business within the jurisdiction of the Lac Vieux desert Band of Lake 

Superior Chippewa Indians") (emphasis added). Under tribal law, Sovereign is authorized to 

issue loans secured by vehicles at interest rates up to 390% per annum. Exhibit P-11 at § 

12.2(f), page 44 of 47. 

Breanda Bynon lives in Pennsylvania, which is where she resided throughout the 

entire time she did business with Sovereign. Complaint ¶J i & 2. Ms. Bynon is the owner of a 

2008 Ford F150 Lariat Supercrew worth over $20,000. Complaint, Exhibit P-7. The vehicle is 

titled, registered, and licensed in Pennsylvania. Ms. Bynon keeps the vehicle at her personal 

residence in Pennsylvania. 

In 2013, Sovereign operated a web site under the fictitious name Title Loan 

America, from which it made title loans to residents of Pennsylvania at triple digit interest rates. 

Complaint, Exhibit P-6. During the month of March, 2013, Sovereign purports to have lent Ms. 

1 	 This document was originally submitted by Mr. Mansfield in Ghost v. Victory 
Recovery Services, Inc., et al, No. 14-182.02 as document no. 8-3 at 49 of 83. 
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Bynon $2,500 at or about an annual interest rate of 180%. Ms. Bynon entered into the loan 

transaction from a computer at her home within the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The loan was 

supposedly memorialized by a written contract, but Sovereign did not provide Ms. Bynon with a 

copy, and Ms. Bynon does not recall seeing or accepting any particular set of terms and conditions 

when she took out the loan. Ms. Bynon denies that she saw or agreed to the 182.02% interest rate 

or that she gave Sovereign a security interest in her vehicle. Ms. Bynon kept a record of her 

payments, which shows that she paid $442.50 on April 25, 2013; $441.72 on May 28, 2013, and 

$441.72 on June 26, 2013. A copy of Ms. Bynon's payment history is attached to the complaint as 

Exhibit P-2. 

On or about June 28, 2013, Sovereign refinanced Ms. Bynon's loan. Sovereign 

extended additional credit to Ms. Bynon of $2,435.91 and refinanced her previous balance of 

$2,514.09, for a total of $4,950. This loan was supposedly accepted on-line, but again Ms. Bynon 

denies seeing or accepting any specific set of terms and conditions. About a year and a half later, at 

Ms. Bynon's request (after asking for months), she was provided with a copy of a document 

purporting to be her loan agreement, a copy of which is attached to the complaint as Exhibit P-3. 

The loan agreement is not signed, and Ms. Bynon denies ever seeing or accepting it. IVfr. 

Mansfield's name appears on the loan agreement for Sovereign. Complaint, Exhibit P-3 (last page). 

The loan contract purports to carry an interest rate of 182.02% A.P.R., and has a 

payment schedule consisting of 11 payments of interest only in the amount of $747.05 each, 

followed by a balloon payment of principal and interest in the amount of $5,797.05. Exhibit P-3. In 

total, Sovereign sought to be paid $14,014.56, to satisfy a loan of $4,950. 

11 
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Over the next year, Ms. Bynon made monthly payments totaling $9,297.69. 

Complaint, Exhibit P-2. During the twelfth month, the lender demanded the final balloon payment 

referenced in the loan agreement. Ms. Bynon denied she owed the balloon payment and did not pay 

it. During or about the month of July 2014, Bryan Casey entered into an agreement with the lender 

for his company Top Notch Recovery to repossess Ms. Bynon's vehicle. The repossession occurred 

in Montgomery County Pennsylvania during or about July 2014. Top Notch Recovery repossessed 

Ms. Bynon's vehicle for the lender based on the alleged failure to make the balloon payment 

consisting entirely of usurious interest. IVfr. Casey approved the repossession for Top Notch and 

performed the repossession himself or had an employee acting under his direction perform it. The 

lender forced Ms. Bynon to pay $3,192.08 to reinstate the loan and recover the vehicle. Complaint, 

Exhibit P-4. 

The lender continued to demand the balloon payment, and repossessed Ms. Bynon's 

vehicle again during or about the month of September 2014. This time the vehicle was repossessed 

by Vince Venezia operating through his company IVI Recovery Service, Inc. IVfr. Venezia agreed to 

have IVI perform the repossession. IVfr. Venezia performed the repossession himself, or had 

someone operating under his direct supervision perform the repossession. To get the car back, the 

lender required Ms. Bynon to pay $1,500 up front and agree to make a lump sum payment of 

$4,892, the following month. Complaint, Exhibit P-S. 

On or about January 8, 2015, the vehicle was repossessed for a third time. This 

repossession was also performed by IVfr. Venizia and IVI Recovery Services, Inc. Following the 

repossession, Mark Weiner demanded payment from Ms. Bynon of $5000 for the vehicle's return. 

IVfr. Weiner told Ms. Bynon she had ten days to pay the money and refused to tell her where the 
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vehicle was located. The lender never sent Ms. Bynon any notices required by the UCC regarding 

the right to redeem the vehicle or disclosing the date, time and place of sale. 

Ms. Bynon filed the instant lawsuit on January 16, 2015. Immediately thereafter 

defendants learned of the lawsuit and became aware that Ms. Bynon was represented by counsel. 

Even though defendants knew Ms. Bynon was represented, defendants continued to communicate 

to her directly, bypassing her counsel. Defendants made a settlement offer directly to Ms. Bynon 

without the knowledge of her attorney, offering to return the vehicle in exchange for signing a secret 

release and dismissing the case. The settlement agreement was expressly conditioned on Ms. 

Bynon keeping it secret from her attorney. Complaint, Exhibit P-9. Ms. Bynon's retainer agreement 

with her attorney required her to communicate all settlement offers she received to her attorney. 

The retainer agreement further provided that Ms. Bynon would become personally liable for all the 

attorney's fees and costs in the case if she accepted a settled offer without informing her attorney. 

Because Ms. Bynon was desperate to get the vehicle back, she signed the release, 

but defendants did not fulfill their promise to return the vehicle. The vehicle was returned to Ms. 

Bynon in damaged condition and was not drivable. Although the defendants collected over $10,000 

of usurious interest from Ms. Bynon, they offered to repay only $2,500. 

Ms. Bynon's complaint expressly names IVfr. Mansfield as a defendant in his 

individual capacity. Complaint ¶ 3. Ms. Bynon asserts liability against IVfr. Mansfield in Counts II 

though VI of the complaint for violation of the Pennsylvania Fair Credit Extension Uniformity Act, 

Usury, Racketeering, conversion, and tortuous interference with contractual relations. Except for 

the RICO claim, the theory underlying I\/fr. Mansfield's liability is that he was a participant in the 

lender's wrongdoing. Under Pennsylvania law, an individual may be personally liable for 
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wrongdoing in which he participates, even if acting as an agent for a corporation. Corbett v. 

Manson, 903 A.2d 69, 73 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2006) (discussing participation theory of liability for 

corporate actors); see also Wicks v. Milzoco Builders, Inc., 503 Pa. 614, 621-22 470 A.2d 86, 90 

(1983) (corporate officer who directs wrongful conduct is participant). Mr. Mansfield's liability 

under RICO is premised on the allegation that he managed an enterprise through the collection of 

unlawful debt in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). 

Argument 

I. 	CRAIG MANSFIELD IS LIABLE IN HIS INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY. 

(a). Tribal Immunity Does Not Protect Mr. Mansfield Individually. 

Tribal immunity does not protect Mr. Mansfield from suit in his individual 

capacity. Tribal immunity does not apply to individuals. Puyallup Tribe, Inc v. Department of 

Game of State of Washington, 433 U.S. 165, 170-173 (1977). Tribe members who are 

government officials can be subject to suit in their individual capacity. 

The general bar against official-capacity claims, however, does not 
mean that tribal officials are immunized from individual-capacity 
suits arising out of actions they took in their official capacities, as 
the district court held. Cf Russ v. Uppah, 972 F.2d 300, 303 (10th 
Cir.1992) ("[S]tate officials may ... be sued in their individual 
capacities for actions performed in the course of their official 
duties and are personally liable for damages awarded."). . 

Where a suit is brought against the agent or official of a sovereign, 
to determine whether sovereign immunity bars the suit, we ask 
whether the sovereign "is the real, substantial party in interest." 
Frazier v. Simmons, 254 F.3d 1247, [546 F.3d 1297] 1253 (10th 
Cir.2001) (quotation marks and citation omitted). This "turns on 
the relief sought by the plaintiffs." Id. (quotation marks and 
citation omitted). "[T]he general rule is that relief sought 
nominally against an officer is in fact against the sovereign if the 
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decree would operate against the latter." Pennhurst State Sch. & 
Hosp. v. Halderman, 465 U.S. 89, 101, 104 S.Ct. 900, 79 L.Ed.2d 
67 (1984) (quotation marks and citation omitted). Where, however, 
the plaintiffs' suit seeks money damages from the officer "in his 
individual capacity for unconstitutional or wrongful conduct fairly 
attributable to the officer himself," sovereign immunity does not 
bar the suit "so long as the relief is sought not from the 
[sovereign's] treasury but from the officer personally." Alden v. 
Maine, 527 U.S. 706, 757, 119 S.Ct. 2240, 144 L.Ed.2d 636 
(1999). 

Native American Distrib. v. Seneca-Cayuga Tobacco, 546 F.3d 1288 (10th Cir., 2008); Maxwell 

v. Cnty. of San Diego, 708 F.3d 1075, 1088-1091 (9th Cir., 2013); see also Vann v. Kempthorne, 

534 F.3d 741, 549-50 (D.C. Cir., 2008) (tribal officers subject to suit). 

Even though a judgment under Ms. Bynon's complaint will operate only against 

Mr. Mansfield, he insists the complaint is against the tribe because the allegations arise from his 

employment at Sovereign. Mr. Mansfield's argument was rejected by the United States Supreme 

Court in Hafer v. Melo, 502 U.S. 21(1991). The court in Hefer explained that the capacity in 

which a defendant is sued is distinct from the position a defendant occupies. A government 

official may be sued individually for money damages resulting from actions taken in his official 

capacity. Id. at 25. The immunities that apply to an institutional defendant, such as the 

government or a tribe, do not apply to a suit against a defendant in his individual capacity. Id. 

An individual defendant comes to court clothed only in the immunities that apply to him 

personally, which in the case of Mr. Mansfield are none. Id. 

Mr. Mansfield is the real and substantial party in interest. He is liable personally 

because he directed Sovereign to make loans in Pennsylvania, and his name appears on Ms. 

Bynon's loan agreement, showing that he authorized Sovereign's loan to her. Corbett v. Manson, 

903 A.2d 69, 73 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2006) (discussing participation theory of liability for corporate 
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actors); see also Wicks v. Milzoco Builders, Inc., 503 Pa. 614, 621-22 470 A.2d 86, 90 (1983) 

(corporate officer who directs wrongful conduct is participant). IVfr. Mansfield is liable for 

violating the RICO statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), because he operated Sovereign through the 

collection of unlawful debt. As a RICO enterprise, Sovereign  is separate from the RICO 

perpetrators, and bears no liability itself for the violation. Babst v. Morgan Keegan & Co., 687 F. 

Supp. 255, 259 (E.D. La., 1988) ("Almost without exception, the courts have held that RICO 

claims under Section 1962(c) require that the RICO enterprise be separate and distinct from the 

persons to be held liable). 

The case of Magyar v. Kennedy, No. 12-5906, Slip Op., 2013 WL 6119243 (E.D. 

Pa. Nov. 20, 2013), does not stand for a contrary position. The defendant in Magyar was sued in 

his official capacity, which means that the tribal corporation was the real defendant, and the court 

allowed the case to proceed after it was determined that the Tribe acted without authority. 

Neither Sovereign nor the Tribe are named as defendants in the complaint. A 

judgment entered on the complaint will not operate against those parties. No matter what 

happens in this case, the Tribe has no exposure to any liability, whatsoever, in any form. IVfr. 

Mansfield is named as a defendant, jointly and severally with others, and he will be liable on a 

judgment, to be paid out of his money, and not the Tribe's. IVfr. Mansfield is the real and 

substantial defendant in this case. 

2 	 Sovereign qualifies as a RICO enterprise under 18 U.S.C. § 196 1(6) because it is 
a corporation. 
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(b). Mr. MansfieldActed Beyond His Authority. 

(i). 	Pennsylvania Law Applies to the Loan. 

Making and collecting a loan to Ms. Bynon in Pennsylvania at 182.02% A.P.R. 

was beyond IVfr. Mansfield's authority. The highest rate of interest a non-licensed lender may 

charge in Pennsylvania is six percent per annum. Act 6, 41 P.S. § 201. 

In Cash America Net v. Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, 607 Pa. 432, 8 A.3d 282, 

295 (2010), the Pennsylvania Supreme Court held unequivocally that internet lenders were doing 

business in Pennsylvania and subject to its usury laws. 

It is well established that public policy in this Commonwealth 
prohibits usurious lending, and this prohibition has been 
recognized for over 100 years. . 

[Cash America Net] argues that by remaining physically outside of 
Pennsylvania, there is no limit on the interest it can charge to 
Pennsylvania residents, and that it may operate at an advantage to 
in-state lenders by charging far more than the CDCA permits 
licensed, in-state lenders to charge. 	. . . [W]e reject this 
argument. 

Cash America has not attempted to become . . . licensed pursuant 
to the CDCA because it does not aspire to operate in Pennsylvania 
by the same rules that apply to Pennsylvania corporations or 
foreign domesticated corporations. . . . Nor is Cash America 
arguing that it is being shut out of Pennsylvania and is unable to 
obtain a license to do business in the state. . . . Cash America 
wants the benefits of doing business with Pennsylvania residents 
while evading the regulations. Instead of seeking equal treatment, 
Cash America is trying to bypass state usury laws and consumer 
protections by doing business in Pennsylvania without a license. 

Cash America Net, 607 Pa. at 449-53 8 A.3d at 292-95. 

10 
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As a citizen of Pennsylvania, Ms. Bynon was not at liberty to waive the protection 

of the Commonwealth's usury statute. "Notwithstanding any other law [which would include 

tribal law], the provisions of this act may not be waived by any oral or written agreement 

executed by any person." Id. § 408 (emphasis added). 

The statute against usury forms a part of the public policy of the 
state and cannot be evaded by any circumvention or waived by the 
debtor. Moll v. Lafferty, 302 Pa. 354, 359, 153 A. 557. . . . As 
usury is generally accompanied by subterfuge and circumvention 
of one kind or another to present the color of legality, it is the duty 
of the court to examine the substance of the transaction as well as 
its form, .... In Hartranfi v. Uhlinger, 115 Pa. 270, page 273, 8 
A. 244, page 246, it is said: "It is, indeed, wholly immaterial under 
what form or pretence usury is concealed, if it can by any means be 
discovered, our courts will refuse to enforce its payment." 

Simpson v. Penn Discount Corp., 335 Pa. 172, 5 A.2d 796, 798 (1939) (emphasis added). 

Pennsylvania courts have consistently struck down obstacles that inhibit 

enforcement of the Commonwealth's usury laws. In Dept. of Banking v. NCAS of Delaware, 948 

A.2d 752, 761 & n.9 (2008), the Pennsylvania Supreme Court held that a lender could not evade 

regulation under Pennsylvania's usury laws through the use of a choice-of-law clause. Id. ("this 

Court has recognized that choice-of-law agreements can be avoided when the terms offend 

Commonwealth public policy even in disputes between contracting parties"), see also Kaneffv. 

Delaware Title Loans, 587 F.3d 616, 624 (3d Cir. 2009) (same); see also Cottman Transmission 

Systems, LLC v. Kershnei', 492 F. Supp.2d 461, 468-69 (E.D. Pa., 2007) (choice-of-law clause 

cannot be used to bypass nonwaivable statutory rights regardless of where contract is signed). 

Waivers of all kind, including waivers granted after the usury was paid, have been struck down. 

In Thompson v. Prettyman, 231 Pa. 1, 5-6, 79 A. 874, 876 (1911), the court refused to give effect 

to a release that was entered into after the usurious interest had been paid. Id. Nor does the 

11 
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failure to raise usury as an affirmative defense constitute waiver in a lawsuit. Olwine v. Torrens, 

236 Pa. Super 51, 56, 344 A.2d 665, 668 (1975). The Pennsylvania Supreme Court has even 

held that public policy in favor of recovering usury can overcome the finality of judgments, 

permitting a plaintiff to set aside a series of confessed judgments on usurious debts. Moll v. 

Lafferty, 302 Pa. 354, 359, 153 A. 557, 559 (1931). See also, Simpson v. Penn Discount Corp., 

335 Pa. 172, 175, 5 A.2d 796, 798 (1939) (refusing to apply the parol evidence rule where it 

would interfere with the ability to establish the usurious nature of a loan). Cf Thomas v. First 

Nat? Bank of Scranton, 101 A.2d 910 (Pa. 1954) (holding contractual provisions exculpating 

banks from liability to be unenforceable as against public policy). 

Several provisions of Pennsylvania's usury statute, Act 6, 41 P.S. § 201 et seq., are 

relevant. The first is section 201, which sets the maximum rate of interest chargeable by an 

unlicensed lender at 6% per annum. 41 P.S. § 201. Section 408 makes the protections afforded 

by the statute unwaivable. Id. § 408. Section 501 provides that interest beyond the lawful rate 

need not be paid, and provides the borrower with a self-help remedy to deduct excess interest on 

notice to the creditor. Id. § 501. Borrowers injured by usury have the right under section 504 to 

sue for relief: 

Any person affected by a violation of the act shall have the 
substantive right to bring an action on behalf of himself 
individually for damages by reason of such conduct or violation, 
together with costs including reasonable attorney's fees and such 
other relief to which such person may be entitled under law. 

41 P.S. § 504. Section 502 specifies that the damages recoverable in such a suit include triple the 

amount of any usurious interest a borrower paid. Id. § 502. In Grigsby v. Thorp Consumer 

12 
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Discount Co., 127 B.R. 759 (E.D. Pa. 1991), this court held that the imposition of treble 

damages under section 502 was mandatory. 

[By] enacting the treble damage provision of section 502 the 
Pennsylvania legislature warned lenders of the legislature's 
abhorrence of usurious interest rates. In order to prevent the use of 
such rates, the legislature unequivocally informed all potential 
lenders of the consequences flowing from such illegal actions. 

Grigsby, 127 B.R. at 764. 

Section 507 specifies that the remedies provided under Act 6 are not exclusive. 41 

P.S. § 507 ("The remedies and penalties provided in this act shall be supplementary to and shall 

not repeal or otherwise effect the remedies and penalties provided in any other act"). If usury 

gives rise to a RICO action it is consistent with the intent of the legislature. Section 505 

specifies that usury is a criminal offense. 41 P.S. § 505. The defendants have potential criminal 

exposure for collecting a usurious loan. 

In the present case, every act Ms. Bynon performed to become obligated to 

Sovereign ocurred in Pennsylvania. Sovereign recorded its lien on her car with the Pennsylvania 

Department of Transportation, and Sovereign repossessed her car in Pennsylvania. It is beyond 

dispute that Pennsylvania alone has jurisdiction over a repossession within its borders. Chestnut 

v. Pediatric Homecare of America, Inc., 617 A.2d 347, 350, 420 Pa. Super. 598 (1992). 

Sovereign's loan to Ms. Bynon is the exact type of transaction the Pennsylvania Supreme Court 

found to be illegal in Cash America Net, 607 Pa. at 449-53 8 A.3d at 292-95. 

(ii). Mr. Mansfield LackedAutliority to Authorize Lending in 
Pennsylvania. 

Ivfr. Mansfield cannot claim authority under Tribal law to make a loan in 

Pennsylvania, 1,000 miles beyond the Tribe's borders. Tribal law applies on the reservation. 

13 
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Wagnon v. Prairie Band Potawatomi Nation, 546 U.S. 95, 113 (2005). "Indians going beyond 

reservation boundaries have generally been held subject to nondiscriminatory state law otherwise 

applicable to all citizens of the State." Id. (quoting Mescalero Apache Tribe v. Jones, 411 U.S. 

145, 148-49 (1973); Puyallup Tribe v. Department of Game, 391 U.S. 392 (1968). The lending 

license the tribe gave Sovereign authorizes lending within the tribe's jurisdiction on its 

reservation in Michigan. Defendant's Exhibit P-li at § 5.1(c) page 30 of 47 ("A License is a 

revocable privilege to do business within the jurisdiction of the Lac Vieux Desert Band of Lake 

Superior Chippewa Indians") (emphasis added). Pennsylvania is beyond the Tribe's jurisdiction. 

In Kiowa Tribe of Oklahoma v. Manufacturing Tech., 523 U.S. 751(1998), the 

court applied immunity to Indian activity occurring off the reservation, but the court drew a 

distinction between immunity and unlawfulness. 

To say substantive state laws apply to off-reservation conduct, 
however, is not to say that a tribe no longer enjoys immunity from 
suit. In Potawatomi, for example, we reaffirmed that while 
Oklahoma may tax cigarette sales by a Tribe's store to 
nonmembers, the Tribe enjoys immunity from a suit to collect 
unpaid state taxes. 498 U.S., at 510, iii S.Ct., at 909-910. There 
is a difference between the right to demand compliance with state 
laws and the means available to enforce them. 

Kiowa Tribe, 523 U.S. at 755 (emphasis added). In other words, the Tribe's status does not make 

Sovereign's loan to Ms. Bynon legal; it just protects the Tribe from being sued. 

Ivfr. Mansfield's argument was rejected by the Southern District of New York in 

The Otoe-Missouria Tribe of Indians v. New York State Department of Financial Services, Civil 

Action No. 13-5930 (S.D.N.Y, Sept. 30, 2014). In this case, the Tribe sued to enjoin the state of 

New York from regulating its on-line payday lending activities. The court found that the Tribe 

lacked authority to lend in New York at rates of interest violative of state usury law. 
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The undisputed facts demonstrate that the activity the State seeks 
to regulate is taking place in New York, off of the Tribes' lands. 
Having identified no "express federal law" prohibiting the State's 
regulation of payday loans made to New York residents in New 
York, the Tribes are subject to the State's non-discriminatory anti-
usury laws. Mescalero Apache, 411 U.S. at 148-49[.] 

The Otoe-Missouria Tribe, No. 13-5930 at 11-12. 

The Tribe lacked authority to make a loan to Ms. Bynon in Pennsylvania at 

182.02% A.P.R. Accordingly, IVfr. Mansfield lacked authority to supervise lending to Ms. Bynon 

at 182.02% A.P.R., and he is therefore not protected by the Tribe's sovereign immunity. 

(c). 	The Court has Personal and Subject Matter Jurisdiction Over Mr. Mansfield. 

On January 28, 2015, Ms. Bynon served IVfr. Mansfield with a copy of the 

summons and complaint by certified mail, electronic return receipt, restricted delivery, at his 

place of employment. Document 17. The letter was personally signed by IVfr. Mansfield on 

February 3, 2015. Id. at page 4 of 4. 

Ivfr. Mansfield receipt of the summons and complaint in this manner is in 

compliance with F.R.C.P. No. 4(e)(1) and Pa.R.C.P. Nos. 403 & 404. IVfr. Mansfield was 

properly served in his individual capacity, and this court has full personal and subject matter 

jurisdiction over him. 

II. MS. BYNON'S COMPLAINT STATES CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 
AGAINST MR. MANSFIELD. 

(a). Mr. Mansfield is Liable Individually as a Participant in Making a 
Usurious Loans to Ms. Bynon. 

Under Pennsylvania law, corporate officers are personally liable for their 

participation in wrongful conduct. "The law of Pennsylvania has long recognized that personal 

liability can be found against a corporate officer who actually participates in the wrongful, injury- 

15 

Case 2:15-cv-00206-GJP   Document 18   Filed 04/13/15   Page 17 of 28



producing act." Amabile v. Auto Kleen Car Wash, 249 Pa. Super. 240, 250, 376 A.2d 247, 252 

(1977) (citing Chester-Cambridge Bank & Trust Co. v. Rhodes, 346 Pa. 427, 433, 31 A.2d 128, 131 

(1943)). 

The general, if not universal, rule is that an officer of a corporation 
who takes part in the commission of a tort by the corporation is 
personally liable therefor; but that an officer of a corporation who 
takes no part in the commission of the tort committed by the 
corporation is not personally liable to third persons for such a 
tort ... unless he specifically directed the particular act to be done 
or participated, or cooperated therein. 

Wicks v. Milzoco Builders, Inc., 503 Pa. 614, 621-22 470 A.2d 86, 90 (1983) emphasis added). 

In Corbett v. Manson, 903 A.2d 69, 73 (Pa.Cmwlth. 2006), the court held that a corporation's 

chief executive officer was liable for violating the Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer 

Protection Law for allowing his company to make sales of products he knew the company could 

not deliver. See also Donsco v. Casper Corp., 587 F.2d 602, 606 (3d Cir. 1978) (corporate 

executive liable as participant for directing violation of intellectual property rights). 

Ivfr. Mansfield admits that he was a co-manager of Sovereign from July 8, 2011, 

until "early 2014." Complaint, Exhibit P-i, ¶ 6. In that capacity IVfr. Mansfield states "I was 

responsible for the day-to-day operation of SLS .. . ." Id. ¶ 7. IVfr. Mansfield further admits that he 

operated Sovereign in accordance with Tribal law, id. ¶ 8, and admits that during this period 

Sovereign made a loan to at least one other Pennsylvania resident against whom it sought to apply 

tribal law. Id. ¶J 9-21. 

Ms. Bynon took out her first loan from Sovereign in March 2013, and was in 

repayment from then on. From April 2013 to March 2014, Ms. Bynon paid Sovereign $9,129.85. 

Complaint, Exhibit P-2. Sovereign pocketed all of Ms. Bynon's payments for itself as interest, and 

we 
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continued to claim that she was liable for the full principal amount of the loan. These events 

occurred on IVfr. Mansfield's watch, pursuant to the policy of applying tribal law to loans in foreign 

states, such as Pennsylvania, which IVfr. Mansfield enforced. These allegations show that IVfr. 

Mansfield participated as a supervisor in Sovereign's loan to Ms. Bynon. IVfr. Mansfield 

participated in making a loan to Ms. Bynon at a usurious rate of interest and appropriating Ms. 

Bynon's payments. 

This conduct implicates IVfr. Mansfield for liability under count III of the complaint 

for usury and count V for conversion of Ms. Bynon's loan payments. 

(b). The Complaint States a Claim Against Mr. Mansfield Individually for 
Racketeering and Conspiracy. 

The eradication of loan sharking was among Congress' primary objectives when it 

enacted RICO, US. v. Biasucci, 786 F.2d 504, 512 (2d Cir., 1986), and the statute applies to Mr. 

Mansfield's effort to collect a usurious loan from Ms. Bynon. Congress made loan sharking the 

easiest activity to prosecute under RICO. The collection of unlawful debt is the only predicate 

act native to the RICO statute, and the only RICO offense actionable on a single wrongful act. 

US. v. Weiner, 3 F.3d 17 (1st Cir. 1993); US. v. Giovanelli, 945 F.2d 479, 490 (2d Cir. 1991); 

United States v. Vastola, 899 F.2d 211, 228 n.21 (3d Cir. 1990), vacated and remanded on other 

grounds, 497 U.S. 1001 (1990); Proctor v. Metropolitan Money Store Corp., 645 F. Supp. 2d 

464, 481 (D. Md., 2009). 

Section 1962(c) reads as follows: 

(c) It shall be unlawful for any person employed by or associated 
with any enterprise engaged in, or the activities of which affect, 
interstate or foreign commerce, to conduct or participate, directly 
or indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise's affairs through 

collection of unlawful debt. 
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18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). 

All of the elements outlined in this section are satisfied in the present case. The 

Rico claim is being brought against Mr. Mansfield and the other individual defendants, and they 

are all persons. 

Sovereign qualifies as an enterprise based on its status as a limited liability 

company. Id. § 1961(4). In Cedric Kushner Promotions, LTD., v. Don King, 533 U.S. 158 

(2001), the Supreme Court specifically held that a small closely held corporation qualifies as an 

enterprise. 

The corporate owner/employee, a natural person, is distinct from 
the corporation itself, a legally different entity with different rights 
and responsibilities due to its different legal status. And we can 
find nothing in the statute that requires more "separateness" than 
that. Cf McCullough v. Suter, 757 F.2d 142, 144 (CA7 1985) 
(finding either formal or practical separateness sufficient to be 
distinct under § 1962(c)). 

Cedric Kushner Promotions, 533 U.S. at 163. Sovereign's status as a limited liability company 

means by definition that it possesses a legal structure with an existence distinct from any one 

individual, including IVfr. Mansfield. Sovereign is an enterprise under RICO. 

IVfr. Mansfield is alleged to be a manager of Sovereign. This allegation fulfills the 

requirement under RICO for IVfr. Mansfield to be employed by or associated with an enterprise. 

Sovereign is engaged in interstate commerce. In this very case, Sovereign made a 

loan across states lines to a citizen of Pennsylvania. 

IVfr. Mansfield conducted or participated in the conduct of Sovereign's affairs 

through the collection of unlawful debt. As the manager of Sovereign, IVfr. Mansfield directed 

the company's activities. IVfr. Mansfield set or enforced Sovereign's policy of collecting usurious 
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interest from citizens of Pennsylvanians, such as Ms. Bynon in this case or Meribeth Ghost in a 

prior case. 

The loan Sovereign made to Ms. Bynon constitutes unlawful debt as that term is 

defined in section 1961(6). 

(6) "unlawful debt" means a debt (A) ... which is unenforceable 
under State or Federal law in whole or in part as to principal or 
interest because of the laws relating to usury, and (B) which was 
incurred in connection with . . . the business of lending money or 
a thing of value at a rate usurious under State or Federal law, 
where the usurious rate is at least twice the enforceable rate . 

18 U.S.C. § 1961(6). Substantially all interest Sovereign charged Ms. Bynon was unenforceable 

under Pennsylvania's usury law in accordance with Cash America Net v. Commonwealth of 

Pennsylvania, 607 Pa. at 432, 8 A.3d at 282. Sovereign is in the business of making usurious 

loans. Specifically, Sovereign conducts its business under the tribal lending code, which allows 

Sovereign to charge up to 390% annual interest on auto title loans. Exhibit P- li at 44, § 12.2(f); 

Complaint ¶ 4 ("A Financial Services Licensee shall not charge a rate of interest on a Vehicle 

Transaction greater than three hundred ninety percent (390%) simple interest per annum"). 

Courts have uniformly held that RICO violations premised on the collection of 

unlawful debt are actionable on a single transgression.' US. v. Weiner, 3 F.3d 17 (1st Cir. 1993) 

US. v. Giovanelli, 945 F.2d 479, 490 (2d Cir. 1991); United States v. Vastola, 899 F.2d 211, 228 

n.21 (3d Cir. 1990), vacated and remanded on other grounds, 497 U.S. 1001 (1990); Proctor v. 

Metropolitan Money Store Corp., 645 F. Supp. 2d 464, 481 (D. Md., 2009). Demonstrating a 

pattern of activity is not part of Ms. Bynon's burden in this case (but she could demonstrate a 

Sovereign routinely makes loans to Pennsylvania residents and has a pattern and practice of doing 
so, but showing such a pattern is not an element for establishing the collection of unlawful debt. 
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pattern if she had to; Sovereign has made many loans to Pennsylvanians and repossessed many 

cars here). 

Sovereign engaged in collection activity. Specifically, from April 2013 through 

most of 2014 Sovereign took Ms. Bynon's payments and applied the money exclusively to illegal 

interest. 

Ms. Bynon suffered damages as a result of Mr. Mansfield's operation of Sovereign 

through the collection of unlawful debt. Specifically, Ms. Bynon paid thousands of dollars in 

usurious interest to Sovereign and then had her car repossessed three times. 

In Gregoria v. Total Assets Recovery, Inc., 2015 WL 115501 (E.D. Pa. 2015), the 

court considered a similar RICO claim against the owner of a repossession company, and found that 

all of the elements were satisfied. Ms. Bynon's complaint properly states a claim against Mr. 

Mansfield individually for racketeering. IVfr. Mansfield participated in the operation of 

Sovereign through the collection of unlawful debt and is personally liable under RICO for the 

resulting damages. 

The complaint also alleges that Mr. Mansfield conspired with others to collect 

unlawful debt in violation of RICO. The conspiracy is with the other individual defendants 

based on their operation of various companies who serviced or took assignment of Sovereign's 

loans. These companies includes, Car Loans, LLC, Auto Loans, LLC, Loans Servicing 

Solutions, LLC, and Management Solutions, LLC, among others. Rather than show Mr. 

Mansfield's innocence, the April 2014 assignment that he produced evidences his conspiracy 

with the individuals who operated the assignee that they would continue to collect unlawful debt 

from Ms. Bynon through the use of one or more enterprises. 
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For all of these reasons, the complaint states a claim against I\/lr. Mansfield 

personally for racketeering, which is a fitting result for an individual who managed a loan 

sharking business. 

III. NONE OF THE RELEASES ARE ENFORCEABLE. 

None of the releases Ms. Bynon was made to sign are enforceable. In Thompson 

v. Prettyman, 231 Pa. 1, 79 A. 874 (1911), the Pennsylvania Supreme Court held that a creditor 

cannot use a release to avoid compliance with the usury statute. 

The release contained in the agreement of May 21, 1906, cannot 
avail as a defense to the recovery of the usury paid by the 
plaintiffs. To so hold would be for this court to furnish an effective 
means to every lender to defeat the declared purpose of the statute 
and render impotent a law expressive of the public policy of the 
state. . . . We must, therefore, deny any force or effect to the 
release . . . 	Until the relation of lender and borrower has 
ceased, the latter remains subject to the same pressure and the 
reason for affording him protection against the illegal demands of 
the lender continues to exist. In other words, if the legislative 
intent to effectively prevent the payment and collection of usury as 
disclosed in the statute is to be fully and completely carried out the 
right of a borrower to pursue the excessive interest must not be 
defeated by permitting the lender to demand and the borrower to 
give a release or other acquittance so long as the lender retains the 
usury. 

Thompson, 231 Pa. at 6-7, 79 A. 876 (emphasis added); Saunders v. Resnick, 142 Pa. Super. 457, 

16 A.2d 676 (1940) (same). The courts have disallowed usury related waivers in judicial 

proceedings. In Simpson v. Penn Discount Corp., 335 Pa. 172, 175, 5 A.2d 796, 798 (1939), the 

court allowed the debtor to offer parol evidence to show that judgment notes he had signed were 

usurious. In Olwine v. Torrens, 236 Pa. Super 51, 56, 344 A.2d 665, 668 (1975), the court 

allowed the debtor raise a defense of usury even though he had not pleaded it as a defense. 

Section 408 of the statute states expressly that a debtor's rights under Act 6 are not wiavable. 
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"Notwithstanding any other law [such as the law that might otherwise pertain to the validity of 

releases], the provisions of this act may not be waived by any oral or written agreement executed 

by any person." Id. § 408 (emphasis added). 

In Thompson the court found the release offensive precisely because it was a 

product of the defendant's coercive power as a creditor of a usurious debt. Every release the 

defendants obtained from Ms. Bynon was also the product of coercion. In each instance, the 

defendants' demanded execution of the release in exchange for the return of her vehicle which 

they had taken solely to force the payment of usurious interest that Ms. Bynon did not actually 

owe. 

The January 22, 2015, release (complaint, Exhibit P-9) is also invalid because it 

requires Mr. Bynon to waive her right to counsel. 

Borrower agrees to sign a Confidentiality Agreement stating that 
nothing contained within this General Release will be disclosed to 
any person or governmental agency including attorneys and 
specifically, Robert Salvin, Esq. who as an office in Bala Cynwyd, 
PA. 

Complaint, Exhibit P-9. In other words, defendants offered to return Ms. Bynon's car only if she 

agree to give up her right to legal counsel. The right to legal counsel is another right secured by 

Act 6. 41 P.S. § 403. In section 403, Act 6 specifies that debtors are entitled to attorney's fees if 

they prevail in a case under the statute, and states that fees are to be awarded in an amount 

necessary to provide sufficient compensation for the work. The intent of the legislature is for 

Ms. Bynon to have counsel. A release conditioned of waiving the right is yet another violation of 

Act 6 that is illegal and unenforceable. 
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The January 22, 2015, release is illegal under the Fair Credit Extension 

Uniformity Act ("FCEUA"), 73 P.S. §§ 2270.4(a) & (b)(1)(vi) (incorporating 15 U.S.C. § 

1692c(a)(2)). The FCEUA prohibits a creditor or debt collector from communicating directly 

with a debtor who is represented by counsel. The defendants were not permitted to have any 

direct contact with Ms. Bynon, including sending her a settlement agreement. An agreement sent 

to Ms. Bynon in violation of the statute is void for violating the statute. 

None of the releases is supported by consideration. Consideration is a necessary 

element for any release. Fedun v. Mike's Cafe, Inc., 204 A.2d 776, 781, 204 Pa.Super. 356 

(1964). A release not supported by consideration is invalid. Id. By the time Ms. Bynon signed 

any of defendants' releases, she had already paid the defendants thousands of dollars of usurious 

interest. The defendants had no right to take Ms. Bynon's vehicle, and did not give her anything 

to which she was not already entitled when they returned it. The provision in the third release 

for the payment of $2,500 represents only about a fourth of the usurious interest defendant owed 

Ms. Bynon. Repaying Ms. Bynon money defendants already owed was not consideration. 

The January 22, 2015, release does not cover IVfr. Mansfield. The released parties 

are identified as "Sovereign Lending Solutions, Carloans-LLC and its respective affiliates, 

successors, subsidiaries and agents (hereafter, collectively referred to as the Lender) . . . ." 

Complaint, Exhibit P-9 (emphasis added). The "agents" covered by the release are Carloans-

LLC's agents, but Mr. Mansfield is an agent of Sovereign. 

The defendants' releases represent the type of subterfuge or circumvention that 

Pennsylvania courts typically invalidate to preserve debtor's rights under the Commonwealth's 

usury statute. 
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IV. THE ASSIGNMENT DOES NOT INVALIDATE MS. BYNON'S 
RIGHTS AGAINST MR. MANSFIELD. 

The assignment Mr. Mansfield attached to his motion as Exhibit 6 does not shield 

him from liability. The case that Mr. Mansfield cites, Crawford Central School District v. 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, 888 A.2d 616, 619 (Pa. Sup. Ct., 2005), explains that an 

"assignment is a transfer of property or a right from one person to another . . . ." Id. Sovereign's 

assignment of Ms. Bynon's loan to Management Solutions, LLC, was a transference of 

Sovereign's rights, not Ms. Bynon's. Act 6 gives Ms. Bynon a right to compensation for the 

usurious interest she paid under Mr. Mansfield's watch. That right is Ms. Bynon's alone to 

assign, and she has not assigned it to anyone else. 

V. DEFENDANTS TORTIOUSLY INTERFERED WITH MS. 
BYNON'S RETAINER AGREEMENT WITH HER ATTORNEY. 

It is tortuous under Pennsylvania law to induce a person to breach a retainer 

agreement with an attorney. Klauder v. Cregar, 327 Pa. 1, 7, 192 A. 667, 670 (1937). The party 

who induces a breach is liable for damages. The plaintiff is often the attorney who was damaged 

as a result of being denied fees, but in this case, Ms. Bynon herself was also damaged. The 

breach caused Ms. Bynon to become liable for all of the attorneys' fees in the case without regard 

for whether the case is successful. This is a loss to Ms. Bynon for which she deserves 

compensation. 

Mr. Mansfield's claim of ignorance disregards the fact that the release mentions 

Ms. Bynon's attorney by name and expressly requires Ms. Bynon to keep the agreement secret 

from counsel. The release states on its face that Ms. Bynon had filed a lawsuit and had an 

attorney. Mr. Mansfield cannot rely on the release, yet claim to be unaware of that. Mr. 
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Mansfield's claim of ignorance is also belied by the fact that he even has the release. Mr. 

Mansfield obviously has some continuing association with the assignee of Ms. Bynon's loan. 

Conclusion 

The court has jurisdiction over Mr. Mansfield, and he is liable as a participant for 

collecting usurious interest from Ms. Bynon. Mr. Mansfield's motion should be denied together 

with any other relief that is just and appropriate. The plaintiff requests an opportunity for oral 

argument. 

Respectfully subpiitted, 

Robe F. S4vin (RFS2522) 
Two I3alaWlaza, Suite 300 
Bala Cynwyd, PA 19004 
215-300-2388 
215-271-2820 (fax) 
robert.salvin@outlook.com  

Dated: 4/13/15 
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Certificate of Service 

I, Robert F. Salvin, Esq., that a true and correct copy of the foregoing 
document will be served on the defendants through the electronic filing system, or I will serve a 
hard copy by regular mail. 

Respectfully, subjiitted, 

RobeilF. Sfvin (RFS2522) 
Two f3alaiNaza, Suite 300 
Bala Cynwyd, PA 19004 
215-300-2388 
215-271-2820 (fax) 
robert.salvin@outlook.com  

Dated: 4/13/15 
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